HA-238 1852

First Presbyterian Church
IOOF Lodge

21 E. Pennsylvania Avenue
Bel Air

Private

One of Bel Air's most distinctive buildings, and its only
structure on the National Register of Historic Sites, this
building was built in 1852 to house the new Presbyterian Church.
It is Bel Air's earliest buildings designed in a National Style
and is Harford County's only Greek Temple form. After the
Presbyterians built their new Gothic Revival Church on North
Main Street in 1881, they leased their old church to the 0dd
Fellows Lodge.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (4 known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The original First Presbyterian Church of Bel Air,
now the 0Odd Fellows Lodge, is a Greek temple of the Doric
order, with a four column portico rendered in wood on its
principal facade, facing north on Pennsylvania Avenue. Four
bays, of brick laid in comron bond, form the hall or former
sanctuary behind the portico, reminiscent of the single
space or naos of a Greek temple. The whole temple form here
is above a high basement or ground storey. The portico is
slightly narrower than the brick structure, the resulting
offset terminating the entablature of the portico. Con-
Spiciously absent from the frieze are the triglyphs of
the Greek Doric order; they may have been omitted on this
structure as an economy measure, or they may have been
removed in a simplifying repair. The cornice above the
brick walls consists of several courses of corbeled brick.

0f the four windows on either side, only those in t e
northerly bay (closest to the street) remain their original
length, and retain, in all probability, their original
twelve over twelve sash. Examination of the brickwork
reveals that all other windows have heéd their sills raisecd
about three f2et, necessitating the irstallation of shorte:
sash, the upp2r ones divided into diarcnd-shapred panes.

Another 3Jetail of later remodelirg is the generous
roof overhang along the east and west sides, with exposed
rafter ends. A joint may be seen in the crown mounding of
the portico, further suggesting that this cverhang is a later
addition. .

The principal entrance is within the portico, and is
enframed in a simplified Greek motif cf pilasters supporting
an entablaturce. The double, paneled doors are probably the
originals. An entrance to the ground storey s beyond an
arch in the portico foundation, directly under the principal
entrance.

A single, tall spacious room occuvoies three of the four
bays of this :zemple, once the church sanctuary. Its floor is
about three feet above the portico floor. The fourth or
northerly bay contains an entrence vestibule, its floor
on the portico level; flanking the vestibule are staircases,
down to the ground floor, up to a balcony above, and up to
the former sanctuary floor.

The balcony has been enclosed with a modern partition,
but its paneled rail and stepped rises remain in rlace, as
dees ancient Ingrain carpeting with folded paper under-padding
Likewisec, the vestibule and staircases have been partitioned
from the former sanctuary, with wainscotting of ca. 1880-
1900, matching the wainscot with surroands the hall or former
sanctuary.

(See continuvatisn sheet No. 1)
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0dd Fellows Lodge

7. DESCRIPTION, continued

The raised sills of the side windows were previously -
noted. Comparing them to the windows of original length,
it is apparent that the original windows would have extended
to the floor of the sanctuary, not a typical condition for
the church. An initial conjecture, to suggest further
research, is that the floor of the sanctuary was raised to
create a more spacious ground storey, and that originally
the present vestibule was merely space under an open gallery,
with a taller sanctuary beyond. To further substantiate this
initial conjecture, a motif on the south wall, which once
enframed the pulpit, consisting of pilasters supporting
an entablature and recalling the similar motif enframing
the front entrance, is entirely too short for a proper Greek
order, but an additional three feet in length at the bottom
would create proper proportions.

Centered in the sanctuary ceilin+g is a large ornamental
plaster medallion, probably a surround intended for a large
chandelier.

The entire ground storev is refinished with modern
materials, which prevent an investigation of an original lower
ceiling heigi t.

The structure measures, approximatelv, 32 by 45 feet,

exclusive of the front portico which is approximately 6 feet
wide.
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STAYEMENY OF SIGNlF‘ICANCE

Harford County has only one structure which positively
can be placed in the mainstream of the Greek Revival style:
the original First Presbyterian Church in Bel Air, now the
0dd Fellows Lodge. The inevitable and unquastlonable detail
which places a structure in the "mainstream" of the Greek .
revival is a Greek temple form of portico exhibiting a care-
fully rendered Greek order; the portico may be a small porch
shelterlng a single door, or it may be the entire facade and
form of a structure. The structure discussed here is wholly
of a temple form. Built in 1852, it undoubtedly had an
architec®, probably from Baltimore, but his name has not been
preservad or discovared tc date.

Harord Cournty was experiencing a rapid growth and de-
velopment in the Grcek revival period of 1820-1860. HMany
of the first houses erectad in the area were replaced by
wealthie: second and third generetion owners with larger,
more substantial houses, but surrrisingly, the newer houses
were, as a group, unusually traditional, albeit larger and
more substantial than most of the earlier dwellings. Perlaps
this traiitionalism was typical cf established regions,
whereas the structures erected ir the more recently settled
areas such as western New York, Chio and in the deep south
states of Georgia, Alabama, and l!ississippi, exhibited the
more dynamic and progressive anew forms.

This structure has had but iwo tenants in its 1life.

The Firs: Presbyterian Church built a Gothic revival structure
a few blocks north in 1881, and it subseguently leased the
original property to the 0dd Fellcws Lodge.

Today, this structure is in the heart of the central
business district, nearly surrourded by public parking
serving stores which face streetc perpendicular to its own.
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A style of architecture which has come to be known as the
Greek Revival enjoyed unprecedented popularity in the United
States in the 1820-1860 period. Harford County has only one
structure which can positively be placed in the mainstream of
this style: the original First Presbyterian Church in Bel Air,
now the Odd Fellows Hall, on Pennsylvania Avenue.

The inevitable and unquestionable detail which places a
structure in the “mainstream’’ of the Greek Revival is a Greek
temple form or portico exhibiting a carefully rendered Greek
order ; the portico may be a small porch sheltering a single door,
or it may be the entire facade and form of a structure; it may be
rendered in wood, in brick or stone rubble with a stucco finish,
or in cut and carved stone. The structure discussed here is
wholly of a temple form. Built in 1852, it is unusually recent for a

~~tructure designed in the pure Greek manner. 1t undoubtedly

1ad an architect, probably from Baltimore, but his name has not
been preserved or discovered to date.

By the time our young nation was firmly on its feet, having
won two wars for Independence, having proven the validity of its
new form of government, and now enjoying the wealth of its
endeavors, it sought literary and artistic expressions of its
culture. Turning to ancient Greece for inspiration was rather
natural. Greece, too, was struggling for its independence from
the foreign domination of Turkey; the cause of Greek liberty
was popular, emotional and romantic; it seemed relevant to the
world in general, and to America in particular. In England,
Stuart and Revett published a five volume series of profusely
illustrated books entitled The Antiquities of Athens. The poet,
Lord Byron, sympathetically publicized the Greeks’ struggle for
independence and ultimately gave his life for that cause. In
short, the whole world rediscovered the beauty and grandeur of
ancient Greek culture, which had flourished in the five centuries
before Christ.

Like all popular movements, this one had an architectural
expression. The Greek Revival style achieved world-wide
popularity, but certainly achieved its greatest development in
America. Examples were raised in literally every part of the
nation, from the Atlantic to the Pacific, to serve every function,
from residential to religious, public and commercial uses.

Harford County was experiencing a rapid growth and
development in this period. Many of the first houses erected in
this area were replaced by wealtiier second and third
generation owners with larger, more substantial houses, but
surprisingly, the newer houses were, as a group, unusually
traditional, albeit larger and more substantial than most of the
earlier dwellings. Perhaps this traditionalism was typical of
established regions, whereas the structures erected in the more
recently settled areas such as western New York, Ohio, and in
the deep south states of Georgia, Alabama and Mississippi,
exhibited the more dynamic and progressive new forms.

The original Presbyterian Church in Bel Air is designed in

HA-238

The Original
First Presbyterian Church |
of Bel Air
. (Odd Fellows Hall)

-the form of a Greek temple of the Doric order, with a nearly

perfect four column portico (rendered in wood) or its principal
facade, facing north on Pennsylvania Avenue. Four bays, of
brick laid in common bond, form the hall or former sanctuary
behind the portico, reminiscent of the single space or naos of a
Greek temple. The whole temple form here is above a high
basement or ground storey. The porticois slightly narrower than

‘the brick structure, the resulting offset terminating the en-

tablature of the portico. Conspiciously absent from the frieze
are the triglyphs which, in the original Greek Doric order, are
triple vertical bar ornaments above and between each column.
They may have been omitted on this structure as an economy
measure, or they may have been removed in a simplifying
repair. .

Of the four windows on either side, only those in the northerly
bay (closest to the street) remain their original length, and
retain, in all probability, their original twelve light sash.
Examination of the brickwork reveals that all other windows
have had their sills raised about three feet, necessitating the
installation of shorter sash, half of which are divided into
diamond-shaped panes, related to another 19th century revival
of the architecture of antiquity, the Gothic Revival, which
flourished after the Greek Revival. o o

Another detail of a possible later remodeling is the generous
roof overhang along the east and west sides, with exposed rafter
ends. A joint may be seen in the crown moulding along the very
top of the portico which suggests that this overhang is a later
addition. Such an overhang could be expected in 1852, but on a
building of the “Italianate’ style, another of the many 19th
centure eclectic styles, which flourished in the very middle of
the century between, one might say, the Greek and the Gothic
Revivals, although there was much overlapping of these styles
as well as blending. Such an overhang is also characteristic of
certain phases of the Gothic Revival.

One might first assume that the majority of these changes
noted here were accomplished in one remodeling or repairing
effort, perhaps after the building had seen a quarter or half a
century of use, and had passed into the hands of a new owner
(which occurred after 1831).

The principal entrance is within the portico, and is enframed
in a simplified Greek motif of pilasters supporting an
entablature. The double, paneled doors are probably the
originals. An entrance to the ground story is beyond an arch in
the portico foundation, directly under the principal entrance.

A single, tall spacious room occupies three of the four bays of
this temple, once the church sanctuary. Its floor is about three
feet above the portico floor. The fourth or northerly bay contains
an entrance vestibule, its floor on the portico level; flanking the

-vestibule are staircases, downto the ground floor, up to a balcony

above, and up to the tormer sanctuary floor.
(Continued To Page 16)
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The balcony has been enclosed with a modern partition, but
its paneled rail and stepped risers remain in place. Likewise,
the vestibule and staircases have been partitioned from the
former sanctuary, with material of ca. 1880-1900, matching the
wainscot which surrounds the hall or former sanctuary.

The raised sills of the side windows were previously noted.
Comparing them to the windows of original length which remain
in the vestibule-gallery bay, it is apparent that the original
windows would have extended to the floor of the sanctuary, not a
typical condition for a church. An initial conjecture, to suggest
further research, is that the floor of the sanctuary was raised to
create a more spacious ground storey, and that originally, the
present vestibule was merely space under an open gallery, with
a taller sanctuary beyond. To further substantiate this initial
conjecture, a motif on the south wall, which once enframed the
pulpit, consisting of pilasters supporting an entablature and
recalling the similar motif enframing the front entrance, is
entirely too short for a proper Greek order, but an additional
three feet in length at the bottom would create proper propor-
tions.

This venerable structure has had but two owners in its life,
and both being organizations, they probably have preserved
detailed records which might substantiate or deny this initial
conjecture. Positive proof or denial remains on and in the
building, hidden from view by later finishes.

The original First Presbyterian Church of Bel Air, or the Odd
Fellows Hall, remains Harford’s unique example of a popular
architectural style, and as such, is worthy of attention and
preservation.

Harford Historical fBuf ldin

HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF HARFORD COUNTY, INC.

Post Office Box 391
Bel Alr, Maryland 21014

Miss Roenna Fahrney
400 Singer Road
ABINGDON MD 2 1009

Banquet Well Attended

. ~ Aboyt 100 members and guests enjoyed the Fourth Annual
Banquet of the Society at the Maryland Country Club near Bel
Air on Friday, April 27th, 1973. The fine program was presented
by two directors of the Society, Mr. Brian M. Preston, who
played tunes from the Revolutionary and Civil War periods on
the piano, and Mr. J. Edmund Bull, who provided a fascinating
talk on the way of life of our Harford County forebears 200 years
ago by drawing on the 1783 tax list and other contemporary
sources.

Recent Acquisitions

1. $500 bequest from the late Mildred Mason Smith Whitall,
long time member of the Society, who passed away February
26th, 1973. The Society is grateful for this addition to her many
contributions of time and gifts during her lifetime.

2. Memorabilia of the Archer and Katenkamp families and
other items of genealogical and historical interest, including a
scrapbook of late 19th century Harford County obituaries, from
Mrs. E. Wilson Dorsey.

3. Original deeds for properties in the western area of Har-
ford County belonging to the Lynch and Cochran families, from
John Raymond Cochran, Sr., and Julia Lynch Cochran.
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PERMIT NO. 40

BEL AIR
MD 21014
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forth by the Nati 1 Park Service. The recommended - :
= Ll L = s = Chief, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation

level of significance of this nomination is:

National [T} State [} Local [}
Date
Name
ATTEST:
Title

Keeper of The National Register

Date Date
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